Public Document Pack

Democratic Services Section
Legal and Civic Services Department
Belfast City Council
City Hall
Belfast
BT1 5GS



9th August, 2021

MEETING OF THE MEMBERS OF BREXIT COMMITTEE

Dear Alderman/Councillor,

The above-named Committee will meet via Microsoft Teams on Thursday, 12th August, 2021 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the business noted below.

You are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully,

SUZANNE WYLIE

Chief Executive

AGENDA:

- 1. Routine Matters
 - (a) Apologies
 - (b) Minutes
 - (c) Declarations of Interest
- 2. <u>Update on NI Protocol</u> (Pages 1 32)
- 3. Legal Challenge to the NI Protocol (Verbal Report)
- 4. **Shared Prosperity Fund Update** (Pages 33 44)
- 5. **Port Health Update** (Verbal Report)
- 6. **Schedule of Meetings 2021** (Pages 45 46)
- 7. Future of Brexit Committee (Verbal Report)

Agenda Item 2

BREXIT COMMITTEE



Subje	ect:	NI Protocol						
Date:		12 August 2021						
Repo	rting Officer:	John Walsh, City Solicitor / Director of Legal & Civic Services						
Conta	act Officer:	Nora Largey, Divisional Solicitor						
Restr	icted Reports							
Is this	s report restricted?		Yes No	Х				
	If Yes, when will th	e report become unrestricted?						
	After Commit After Council Some time in Never	Decision						
Call i	_							
Call-i	n ————							
Is the	decision eligible fo	or Call-in?	Yes X No					
1.0	Purpose of repo	t or summary of main issues						
1.1	To update members following a briefing given by the Minster of State for N Ireland, Robin Walker, on the British Government position on the NI Protocol and future negotiations with the EU.							
2.0	Recommendatio	ns						
2.1	Council decision of	he Committee are requested to recommend the factorial of 4th May 2021, the Chief Executive exercise of the report and the Command Paper which i	her delegated authori	ity to				

3.0 Main report **Background** 3.1 The British Government has taken the view that the NI Protocol is not working in its current form and has indicated that it wishes to work in partnership with the EU to make significant changes which it asserts will deliver more effectively on the core objectives of that agreement. The asserted basis for a revised arrangement is to enable goods to circulate more freely within the UK customs territory whilst ensuring compliance in respect of standards for those goods that are destined for the EU. The Government contend that this can be achieved without infrastructure or checks between N Ireland and the Republic of Ireland and thus measures would remain consistent with the Good Friday Agreement. **Key Issues** 3.2 The Government contends that the NI Protocol is not functioning as it should to the extent that it would warrant triggering Article 16. The command paper sets out that the view that the Protocol has had profound impacts economically, socially, politically and commercially, noting that these are felt in the context of the current grace period with mitigations in place. To address these issues the paper sets out a position advocating for significant changes to be made to the Protocol that would achieve 'a new balance'. The proposals principally focus on trade arrangements, thus there are no changes sought in the status of the Common Travel Area, the Single Electricity Market or Human Rights. The key elements of the Command Paper are; 1. A new system of trader declarations regarding goods moving from the UK to Northern Ireland with registration required and transparency of supply chains. The UK would undertake to enforce such a scheme. 2. The system referred to at 1 would apply to sanitary and photosanitary (agri-food) goods with the UK undertaking to enforce a requirement for such goods to comply with EU standards if destined for the Republic of Ireland. 3. The current system dealing with live animals would be retained on the basis that they pose a greater risk. 4. A regime would be created for biosecurity in terms of the movement of certain plants but excepting seeds and plants destined for garden centres.

5. Greater flexibility in setting VAT and excise rates with safeguards that will prevent significant divergence on the island of Ireland. 6. A dual regulatory regime as regards product safety enabling goods compliant with either UK or EU standards to circulate in N Ireland. The UK would undertake to put in place legislation to provide for penalties on UK traders placing non-compliant goods on the EU market. 7. The Command paper takes the view that governance arrangements on the operation of the Protocol are inadequate. It proposes that these are reworked. In particular it takes the view that jurisdiction of the EU and the Court of Justice are unconstitutional and at odds with international law. It is proposed that an alternative treaty arrangement is put in place for dispute resolution. 3.3 Recommendations: Members are asked to note the report. 3.4 Financial & Resource Implications None 3.5 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment Not Applicable 4.0 Appendices - Documents Attached Command Paper NI Protocol-the way forward





Northern Ireland Protocol: the way forward

July 2021

CP 502



Northern Ireland Protocol: the way forward

Presented by the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland

By the Command of Her Majesty

July 2021

CP 502

© Crown copyright 2021 Produced by Cabinet Office

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Alternative format versions of this report are available on request from publiccorrespondence@cabinetoffice.gov.uk

ISBN 978-1-5286-2825-9

CCS0721914902 07/21

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum

Printed in the UK by the APS Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

CONTENTS

FOREWORD BY THE PRIME MINISTER	3			
INTRODUCTION BY DAVID FROST AND BRANDON LEWIS				
SECTION ONE: How we got here: the process of agreeing the Protocol	7			
SECTION TWO: How the Protocol is working	10			
SECTION THREE: One way forward: our assessment of Article 16	13			
SECTION FOUR: An alternative way forward: finding an agreed new balance	15			
SECTION FIVE: Establishing this new balance	17			
i. Trade in goods within the United Kingdom	17			
Customs	17			
Sanitary and phytosanitary (SPS) measures	17			
VAT and excise	18			
Enforcement	18			
Unfettered access	19			
ii. Circulation of goods within Northern Ireland	19			
Subsidy control	20			
iii. Governance	20			
Consultation and legislative processes	21			
SECTION SIX: Next steps	21			

Page 8

FOREWORD BY THE PRIME MINISTER

In just over a year of negotiations, between November 2019 and the end of 2020, this Government completed our withdrawal from the EU and agreed a Trade and Cooperation Agreement – the broadest and most far-reaching bilateral trade agreement ever. Many said this would take years to complete or could not be done at all. We never believed that. Instead we delivered a platform for a new relationship between this country and the EU in record time.

Unfortunately one vital area of this partnership is not working well – the arrangements relating to Northern Ireland set out in the Northern Ireland Protocol.

These arrangements represented a huge compromise by the UK, designed to protect the peace process and the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement in all its dimensions. We repeatedly proposed alternative means to achieve those ends, which we felt better reflected the reality of the situation. Nevertheless, having reached a difficult compromise on the final text of the Protocol, we expected both sides to recognise the need to apply and administer it in a way that took account of the unique context of Northern Ireland, as the Protocol itself requires. This was vital not just for trade and economic reasons, but also because of the sensitive issues around politics and national identity.

We as a Government have been trying to do just that. But it has already become clear that it is not possible to operate these arrangements in a way that can be sustained, particularly not in the inflexible way the EU seems to want.

The impact of the Protocol has been profound economically, politically, socially, and commercially. Within Northern Ireland it has placed strain on institutions which have already been challenged by the COVID-19 pandemic. Some have begun to fear – wrongly – a growing separation of Northern Ireland from the rest of the UK, notwithstanding the principle of consent enshrined in the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement. And it has served as a drag on the new partnership between the UK and the EU. This is all before the full effects of the Protocol have taken shape and with mitigations in place to reduce its full impact.

It is increasingly clear that we cannot solve the problems simply by a rigid and unpurposive application of the Protocol in its current form. Indeed the difficulties are so profound that I have had to consider whether safeguarding action is necessary under the Article 16 framework which the Protocol provides. My conclusion is that the circumstances in which we find ourselves would justify such an approach. But I also conclude that there is still an opportunity to proceed differently and to agree with the EU a new balance in how the Protocol operates because I believe that there is still political will to address shared problems on all sides. The same sense of responsibility that brought the Protocol into being must be summoned again, in recognition of the fact that it is failing to deliver on what it set out to achieve.

To properly deal with these challenges, in an enduring rather than temporary way, this new balance must deliver significant changes to the existing Protocol. It must ensure that we can fully respect Northern Ireland's place in the United Kingdom, its customs territory and internal market, while playing our part in respecting the integrity of the EU's Single Market, and, of course, ensuring that the border between the Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland remains without infrastructure or checks.

This paper sets out our proposals. They are necessarily ambitious. I make no apology for that: the spirit of the peace process has always required adaptation and evolution of solutions to meet the unique circumstances of Northern Ireland. If we can work on them together, I am convinced we can find a settlement that can endure.

In the negotiations for our Trade and Cooperation Agreement, both this country and the EU showed that we were equal to the challenge and could demonstrate great innovation to craft something new. If we can do the same here, we can deliver for Northern Ireland and we can put wider UK-EU relations onto a better and more positive trajectory, as we all want. That is a prize worth having. Let us work hard for arrangements that can last.

Bois Jamson

Page 11

INTRODUCTION BY DAVID FROST AND BRANDON LEWIS

After the UK's decision in 2016 to leave the European Union, and with the Republic of Ireland remaining a member, it was clear from the start that arrangements had to be found to protect the unique position of Northern Ireland. Maintaining the hard-won gains of the past 23 years, building on the foundations of the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement, required solutions that fully respected and protected Northern Ireland's place within the United Kingdom, whilst keeping open the border with the Republic of Ireland.

The Northern Ireland Protocol, agreed in October 2019, explicitly recognises the importance of respecting all dimensions of the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement. It reflects the need to reconcile multiple aims: maintaining the necessary conditions for North/South cooperation; respecting Ireland's obligations as an EU Member State; protecting the integral place of Northern Ireland in the UK's internal market; and minimising the impact on the lives of citizens.

Since then we have also put in place a successfully agreed and ratified Trade and Cooperation Agreement between the UK and EU. Devolved institutions have also been reestablished in Northern Ireland under the *New Decade*, *New Approach* deal of January 2020. A positive context has emerged which compares favourably to the huge uncertainty and drift in which the Protocol originally took shape – and with it an opportunity.

But so far the Protocol has only partially delivered upon its objectives. The border between Ireland and Northern Ireland has been successfully maintained without infrastructure or checks, and the EU Single Market has been protected. However the Protocol has not delivered on some of its other core objectives, notably the explicit commitments to protect Northern Ireland's place in the UK internal market and to avoid disruption to everyday lives.

In particular, although most of the trade covered by the Protocol remains within the UK customs territory and internal market, under its terms each and every movement is subject to the same extensive processes that are designed to manage third country trade into the EU. That is leading to disruption to supply chains, increased costs, and reduced choice for consumers, and unnecessary boundaries that risk causing wholesale diversion of trade or economic damage in Northern Ireland.

As a result, a situation has emerged that all sides find unsatisfactory. We want to build a relationship with the EU that reflects our strong common interests and values, and our shared history together. Yet our relationship is currently developing in a way that is punctuated with legal challenges and characterised by continued disagreement and mistrust. This is in neither of our interests. We want to avoid a situation in which this becomes the established pattern of future relations with the EU – not least because this is unlikely to contribute to stability in Northern Ireland either.

This current situation is all the more regrettable because of the fundamental mutual interests that exist between the EU, the UK, the Irish Government, and the people and political parties of Northern Ireland, in supporting and upholding all of the fundamental objectives that the Protocol exists to protect. This constitutes a very strong basis on which to find more productive and sustainable arrangements to deliver more effectively on those objectives, while also addressing the political, societal, and economic difficulties that have developed since the Protocol was negotiated and implemented.

The Government therefore seeks a new approach based on negotiation and the finding of a new and enduring consensus. Our hope and aim is to change the current trajectory, because it risks undermining the fundamental objectives of the Protocol. In the spirit of good neighbourliness, but also recognising the unique responsibilities placed upon it as the Government of the whole United Kingdom, the Government believes that negotiation and common working together with the EU is the best means of providing swift, stable and lasting solutions.

For this to stand a chance of success, it must be accompanied by ambition, imagination, genuine flexibility, and compromise. Accordingly, this Command Paper sets out a set of proposals which we believe will provide a stronger longer-term foundation to achieve shared interests. They will require significant change to the current Protocol. But they will not dispense with many of its concepts. We are ready to ensure that East-West processes are calibrated based on genuine risks, by removing undue frictions on goods remaining within the United Kingdom, but applying EU law processes in full to goods moving on to the EU.

We recognise that there could be political resistance and frustration at the prospect of revisiting significant aspects of the Protocol. But we believe there is a better way forward for all – and a shared responsibility to do all we can to find it as soon as possible.

Beyond the imperative of protecting the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement in all its dimensions, there is also a significant opportunity to be seized. Most of the current friction between the UK and the EU more broadly stems from the situation relating to the Protocol. If we can eliminate this, there is a huge prize on offer: a better and more constructive relationship between the UK and the EU, without mistrust, and working effectively to support joint objectives.

A workable consensus can be reached in which all sides achieve their objectives and can begin to move on. There are no political gains for anyone in failing to address these issues conclusively, or in continuing rolling cliff-edges or periodic pressure points that persistently undermine stability. There is no reason why arrangements cannot be found that better achieve these goals while genuinely minimising disruption to everyday lives. And as such there is a real opportunity to move forward in a way that could bring profound benefits for EU-UK relations, for UK-Irish relations, for businesses and consumers in Northern Ireland, and above all for prospects for peace and stability. We have today set out an approach which we believe can do so. We urge the EU to look at it with fresh eyes, take full account of the issues at stake, and help deliver the brighter future that is within reach.

Rt Hon Brandon Lewis CBE MP Secretary of State for Northern Ireland

Rt Hon Lord Frost CMG Minister of State

SECTION ONE: How we got here: the process of agreeing the Protocol

- 1. The Government is unshakeable in its commitment to the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement. The hard-won gains of the peace process have transformed the political and economic life of Northern Ireland since 1998. This commitment to the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement has therefore framed every aspect of the Government's approach to Brexit negotiations around Northern Ireland and will continue to do so: recognising its position as a co-signatory of the Agreement, alongside the Irish Government; and its specific responsibilities for governance in Northern Ireland, including its economic well-being (identified in 1998 as a vital pillar of peace) and parity of esteem for all traditions.
- 2. The depth of this commitment to the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement was reflected in the decision in 2019 to agree to the Northern Ireland Protocol. This was an unprecedented compromise that tried to reconcile the aims of protecting the EU Single Market with the successful protection of the different strands of the 1998 settlement. Indeed it was an exceptional measure for any Government to agree: to control goods moving within its own territory, in the interests of preserving the delicate and interwoven balance that the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement had established. This had no precedent elsewhere in the world, requiring bespoke arrangements in the text, and was predicated upon a recognition that it would require a nuanced and sensitive approach to its administration.
- 3. The arrangements established by the Protocol are all the more remarkable because of the fact that there is a pre-existing international border between Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland amplified by the existence of two distinct economic entities with different legal jurisdictions, currencies and tax and revenue systems. Nonetheless the Government has been committed from the outset to a border without infrastructure or checks and remains so today. Although the 'all-island' dimensions to economic life between Northern Ireland and Ireland remain of smaller scale than its other dimensions (such as external or Great Britain-Northern Ireland trade), the Government understands that it is important to minimise disruption to all-island sectors and ensure the free flow of trade and people across the border. Concerns around border infrastructure involved both practical issues and matters of identity, with communities having grown used to the melting away of the visible border due to the improved security situation after 1998. The principle of parity of esteem demanded a particularly sensitive response to this issue.
- 4. The Government does not accept and has never accepted that the Northern Ireland Protocol was the only means of protecting the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement, including this North-South dimension. It is clear, and was clear at the time, that other solutions are foreseeable both within and outside the framework of the Protocol that subsequently emerged. Indeed, at times over the period 2016 to 2019, the Government proposed alternative means to achieve the same ends, underlining that any such solutions would not involve checks at the border, while preserving the United Kingdom as a whole as a single customs territory. In a different negotiating context, such solutions would have been fully explored and tested to find the right balance of arrangements to apply in the unique circumstances of Northern Ireland.

- 5. Instead the circumstances in which the current Protocol was agreed reflected the extraordinarily difficult context of the preceding three years of negotiations. Over that period, much time was spent in trying to set out shared assumptions and some fundamental propositions around which potential agreement might be reached.
- 6. The previous Government set out its proposals to address the unique circumstances of Northern Ireland and Ireland in the position paper, Northern Ireland and Ireland, published in August 2017.1 This set out the aims of upholding the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement in all its parts, maintaining the Common Travel Area and associated rights, and avoiding any physical border infrastructure on the island of Ireland. It stressed respect for the Agreement's institutional framework, and in particular for its 'three-stranded approach': devolution and powersharing; North-South cooperation; and East-West cooperation. It recognised that these are equal, interlocking, and interdependent strands, which must be properly held in balance – both for reasons of economic prosperity but also in order to ensure full respect and equal treatment for the identity and aspirations of all communities. In so doing the Government underlined, in addition to the importance of preserving the basis for North-South cooperation as enshrined in the Agreement. the need to safeguard Strand Three of the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement – which includes the relationships between the UK and Irish governments, between their various jurisdictions, and the broader links between Northern Ireland and Great Britain as part of one United Kingdom. The commitment to avoid infrastructure on the border between Northern Ireland and Ireland was allied with a commitment to prevent the creation of new barriers to doing business within the UK, including between Northern Ireland and Great Britain.
- 7. However, this initial UK approach, of holding all three strands to be interlocking and of equal importance in line with the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement, was not fully reflected in the December 2017 'Joint Report'. Although this document does refer to the importance of Strand Three, more weight is devoted to the protection of the North-South dimension. Moreover, and most significantly for the future, it was in the Joint Report that the UK committed – in order to avoid a "hard border" – either to find "specific solutions" for the "unique circumstances of the island of Ireland", or, if such solutions could not be found, to put in place "full alignment with those rules of the Internal Market and the Customs Union which, now or in the future, support North-South cooperation, the all-island economy and the protection of the 1998 Agreement". This was what became known as the 'backstop'. The UK further committed in the absence of such agreed solutions to "ensure that no new regulatory barriers develop between Northern Ireland and the rest of the United Kingdom" unless the Northern Ireland Assembly and Executive agreed – that is, to keep the rest of the UK aligned in these core areas with Northern Ireland.
- 8. These commitments in effect gave the EU the power to determine whether any other "specific solutions" proposed by the UK were in fact considered acceptable, and thereby to force the whole of the UK into the EU customs union and the Single Market for goods. In the then Prime Minister's letter to President Tusk of 19 March 2018, the Government conceded that there would indeed be operational legal text

8

¹ Northern Ireland and Ireland: position paper, UK Government, August 2017

² Joint Report on progress during phase one of negotiations under Article 50 TEU on the United Kingdom's orderly withdrawal from the European Union, UK Government and European Union, December 2017. Page 15

for at least the 'backstop' option.3 This also finally fixed the reality that the nature of Northern Ireland's future trading arrangements would be included within the Withdrawal Agreement rather than in any future agreement.

- 9. This set a course which led ultimately to the Withdrawal Agreement agreed in principle in the autumn of 2018 and tailored in early 2019. This created a package of UK-wide alignment on the customs union and Northern Ireland-specific alignment in much of the Single Market for goods and related areas, commitments to keep Great Britain fully aligned with Northern Ireland in those areas to avoid divergence arising, and an EU lock on changes to any of these arrangements. Not surprisingly, this draft Agreement was rejected three times in Parliament and the political developments that followed led to the current Government taking office.
- 10. The current Government's period in office began, therefore, in a situation in which there had been assumptions built in for more than a year that any agreed arrangements had to fit into the contours of the proposed 'backstop', but where Parliament would not agree to a deal within those parameters (or, as the other meaningful votes made clear, any other parameters either) and had shown that it preferred to put off exit from the EU rather than face up to these problems. The UK thus faced a prolonged and damaging period of uncertainty if a solution could not be found.
- 11. In that context it was imperative to find a solution that could respect Northern Ireland's unique circumstances and protect the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement, while ensuring both that the United Kingdom as a whole left the EU, and that that exit from the EU was meaningful, offering genuine future policy choices for everyone in the UK.
- 12. To try to balance all these different needs, and stressing from the outset the need to better protect the "delicate balance" of the Agreement in all its dimensions, the Government put forward a proposal which removed the backstop. Under it, Northern Ireland would have remained aligned with the EU for certain rules for manufactured and agri-food goods, but not for customs or other areas such as VAT. Recognising that such alignment without consent represented a denial of the normal democratic rights to approve laws, a major element of the proposal was a mechanism which would have required the consent of the Northern Ireland Assembly to enter into the new arrangements or to continue them after four years.
- 13. There is no doubt that this would have provided a more secure basis on which to proceed than the current Protocol. However Parliament's insistence in the Benn-Burt Act that the UK could not leave the EU without an agreement radically undermined the Government's negotiating hand; and the final compromise, while delivering the fundamental aim of a clear Brexit, and recognisably based on the UK's proposal, included several elements which would prove to cause difficulties subsequently: notably, though not only, the EU's insistence on customs arrangements between Great Britain and Northern Ireland, with detail to be worked out subsequently; and the failure to provide for Northern Ireland's consent to enter the arrangements.

9

³ A letter from Prime Minister Theresa May to Donald Tusk, President of the European Council, UK Government, March 2018. Page 16

- 14. Nevertheless, the revised Protocol delivered the fundamental requirement of enabling the UK as a whole to leave the EU in a genuine and meaningful way. The status of Northern Ireland was enshrined in clear commitments in the Protocol text: for the Protocol to be without prejudice to the provisions of the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement in respect of the constitutional status of Northern Ireland at Article 1(1); to respect the essential state functions and territorial integrity of the UK at Article 1(2); to protect the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement in all its dimensions at Article 1(3); to recognise Northern Ireland's place in the UK customs territory at Article 4; to use best endeavours to facilitate trade between Great Britain and Northern Ireland, with a view to avoiding controls at Northern Ireland ports and airports at Article 6(2); and to "impact as little as possible on the everyday lives of communities in both Ireland and Northern Ireland".
- 15. Key elements of the new Protocol's operation were left to be worked through during the course of the transition period. In some cases, this was explicit in the text, as with the tasks delegated to the Joint Committee in Article 5 (such as to agree the terms under which goods were "at risk" of entering the EU market). In others, and particularly regarding the administration of processes between Great Britain and Northern Ireland, it was clear that further discussions would be necessary to determine arrangements in practice.
- 16. In a prolonged negotiation during 2020, in parallel with the negotiations on the future Trade and Cooperation Agreement, the UK and the EU sought to pin down the practical arrangements in many of these areas through the Joint Committee. These finally concluded in December 2020, though again many UK proposals that would have subsequently made the Protocol easier to operate were rejected. There were also "grace periods" which provided additional time for operators in specific sectors, particularly those moving agri-food goods, to adapt.
- 17. However, by their nature, these agreements could not be informed by the as yet unknown real impacts on the ground or the lived experience of administering the underpinning systems. As such, they did not fundamentally shift the default assumption that goods moving from Great Britain to Northern Ireland would be subject to the full checks and controls applied to goods moved from third countries into the EU, regardless of the ultimate destination of those goods. Though the principle of a more tailored approach was developed through negotiations on an "at risk" scheme for tariffs and through the grace periods, this principle was not applied more broadly, and thus did not underpin the operation of checks and controls as a whole. This has had very significant negative consequences in practice.

SECTION TWO: How the Protocol is working

- 18. The Government has since then made huge, indeed unprecedented, efforts to implement and deliver the underpinning arrangements for the Protocol.
 - We have delivered four major IT systems, including the declaration, transit, safety and security, and goods movement systems.
 - We have put in place extensive support schemes costing over £500 million for business:

- The Trader Support Service, which is forecast to cost around £360 million through to the end of 2022, has supported the movement of more than three quarters of a million consignments, with nearly 40,000 traders registered for the scheme.
- The Movement Assistance Scheme, now confirmed in place until 2023, has already supported more than 140 businesses, covering the cost of more than 11,400 certificates and 1,300 inspection hours.
- The Government has pledged a further £150 million for a Digital Assistance Scheme to provide an end-to-end digital solution for agrifood certification.
- We have explained the Protocol at all levels with businesses in Great Britain and Northern Ireland – including bespoke, general, and targeted support at nearly 350 industry forums which have reached a combined audience of more than 50,000 people in the trade community; 200,000 calls to businesses; webinars for businesses across agri-food, customs and other requirements; 59 separate communications delivered to traders, reaching an audience of nearly 70,000; and Government-led forums such as the Brexit Business Taskforce.
- We have funded the development of points of entry for agri-food goods in Northern Ireland, with nearly £50 million of investment (alongside more than £20 million in funding this year to support the Executive in operating the Protocol).
- We have increased the capacity for veterinary checks, with the number of official veterinarians qualified to sign Export Health Certificates doubled to more than 1,800.
- We are giving access, beyond any granted before, to the EU into UK customs systems, providing assurance and visibility of consignments as part of a longer-term programme.
- 19. The scale of these processes makes clear the scale of the new requirements faced by traders. Businesses of all sizes have faced new requirements for customs declarations whether goods are staying in Northern Ireland or not. Those moving agri-food goods have faced additional burdens in securing multiple health certificates for each of the thousands of items making up consignments, even when they are destined for sale on shelves in Northern Ireland. Indeed, authorities in Northern Ireland have conducted more than 40,000 documentary checks and 3,000 physical checks on agri-food goods arriving in Northern Ireland. Decisions are being made on more than 300 entry documents for products of animal origin every day. The Northern Ireland Executive has estimated that from January to March this year, the volume of checks represented approximately 20% of the EU total, and more than any single EU Member State despite Northern Ireland's population of 1.8 million people being 0.5% of that of the EU as a whole.
- 20. Supply chains have been disrupted and costs increased, with staff redeployed to deal with new bureaucracy, impacting investment and growth. Consumers have seen real impacts: at least 200 companies in Great Britain have stopped servicing

Page 18 11

the Northern Ireland market⁴; plants and trees long-sourced from Great Britain can no longer be stocked in nurseries or garden centres in Northern Ireland; supermarkets have reduced their product lines due to the delays and barriers in moving goods; and the costs of deliveries for those who do serve the market have continued to increase. The effects are felt more broadly too. Medicines are at risk of discontinuation because the hurdles to clear to reach the small Northern Ireland market make supply unviable. And pet owners, including those reliant on assistance dogs, have faced the prospect of unnecessary vaccinations and treatments, and bureaucratic certification hurdles simply to travel within the United Kingdom.

- 21. In turn we have seen changes to longstanding trade flows as businesses in Northern Ireland either divert their supply chains, or businesses in Great Britain decide to no longer supply into Northern Ireland. One survey indicated that almost 30% of small businesses in Northern Ireland had reported a decrease in sales to Great Britain.⁵ Another survey of Northern Ireland manufacturers found that more than three quarters reported a negative impact on their business in the first three months of 2021, with almost 40% suggesting this was liable to persist to the continued detriment of their operations. 6 Half of the membership of the Northern Ireland Chamber of Commerce believed Northern Ireland's trade relationship with Great Britain under the existing arrangements had been negatively impacted, and half considered this would remain the case in the future – with only 8% seeing positive benefits. Many more have noted the increased costs and the challenge that poses to their viability in the longer-term. Meanwhile trade between Northern Ireland and Ireland has increased: Irish exports to Northern Ireland are now nearly 50% higher than in May 2018, with Irish exports overall up by only 15% in the same period; with that intensification even more pronounced in sensitive commodities such as pharmaceuticals and chilled meats.8
- 22. These burdens will grow, not reduce, as time goes on. The grace periods, during which the full burdens of EU rules do not apply to Northern Ireland traders, are set to expire from this autumn. So far these have provided a measure of stability for agri-food, medicines, parcels and pet movements, without any evidence of any reaching the Single Market. Once these grace periods end, in particular the one applying to supermarket supplies, the burdens posed will multiply several times over, imposing extra costs and potentially unsustainable challenges for authorities and for businesses.
- 23. Finally, the cumulative impacts of all these barriers are felt socially and politically as well as economically. The Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement recognised an interlocking and interdependent set of institutions and interests that needed to be balanced together. It established the conditions in which different aspirations and identities could be fully respected, in line with the principle of parity of esteem. Events since the beginning of the year have, however, disrupted that balance.
- 24. In particular, the EU's action on 29 January in attempting to use Article 16, without warning or consultation, to establish a vaccine frontier at the border between Ireland

_

⁴ Written evidence submitted by the Consumer Council to the Northern Ireland Affairs Select Committee (NIP0034), June 2021.

⁵ <u>Pulse Survey of Micro and Small Businesses in Northern Ireland: Dealing with the New Trading Environment NI Protocol</u>, Enterprise Northern Ireland, February 2021.

⁶ Tughans Manufacturing NI Survey of Businesses in the Manufacturing Industry, April 2021.

⁷ Northern Ireland Chamber of Commerce and Industry's Quarterly Economic Survey, July 2021.

⁸ External Trade, Goods Exports and Imports, Central Statistics Office, May 2021.

and Northern Ireland had a dramatic effect on perceptions in Northern Ireland. However quickly withdrawn, it showed to many that the EU prioritised protection of its Single Market above other elements of the Protocol, at a time of extreme anxiety for many about vaccine supply in the middle of a pandemic. The effects of this action continue to reverberate and have had significant political consequences. Overall, a situation has emerged in which the extent, breadth and unanimity of opposition from those in the unionist tradition raise serious questions about parity of esteem, risking undermining the functioning of the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement institutions and the three strands. There is now a 50/50 split in opinion in Northern Ireland on the Protocol,⁹ which is not a sustainable basis on which to proceed. This has been against the backdrop of growing protests, including instances of disorder, in Northern Ireland and multiple changes in the leadership of Northern Ireland's largest unionist political party.

- 25. Since January the Government has tried to work with the EU to look to find means to resolve these challenges. There has been some constructive engagement through the structures established by the Withdrawal Agreement, including joint engagement with businesses and civic society in Northern Ireland. There has been a clear recognition that efforts need to be made to ensure that the Protocol can support, not undermine, stability in Northern Ireland. In some areas, this has identified avenues for progress. This was demonstrated most clearly through the extension of the grace period for chilled meat movements.
- 26. However, overall, the discussions we have had so far have not got to the heart of the problem. The EU's immediate resort to legal action following the UK's extension of some of the grace periods in March has not improved the atmosphere. Moreover, as discussions have proceeded it has become increasingly clear that the current issue-by-issue approach, which looks to fix specific problems as they arise, cannot address the broader underlying difficulties.
- 27. This is why the current situation is not sustainable. The way the Protocol is working needs to change. That requires us to address the significant issues that the Protocol has caused, and to do so in a fundamental way.

SECTION THREE: One way forward: our assessment of Article 16

- 28. The Protocol itself provides a safeguard mechanism, under Article 16, which is in place to address circumstances where the application of the Protocol has led or would lead to serious societal and economic difficulties liable to persist, or where diversion of trade is borne out in practice or would occur. Unlike the EU, the UK has not sought to invoke this safeguard mechanism so far, notwithstanding the very considerable challenges that we have seen since the turn of the year and particularly in recent months.
- 29. It is nevertheless clear that the circumstances exist to justify using Article 16:
 - There has been significant disruption to longstanding trade flows between Great Britain and Northern Ireland, and a significant, measurable increase in trade on the island of Ireland. The value of Ireland's exports of goods to Northern Ireland is trending far above historical levels in 2021: up by nearly

Page 20

13

⁹ <u>Testing the Temperature II.</u> David Phinnemore, Katy Hayward, Lisa Whitten and Billy Melo Araujo, June 2021.

40% this year compared to the same period in 2020, and by more than 50% on the same period in 2018. One sectors particularly susceptible to that diversion, such as food and pharmaceuticals, have experienced even stronger growth. Meanwhile, as set out above, surveys continue to underline the disruption being caused to business with Great Britain, with movements of specific commodities (such as chilled meats) seeing particular impacts.

- Such disruption to trade has in turn exacerbated the perceptions of separation and threat to identity within the unionist community which, in the context of Northern Ireland, constitute a particularly serious and pressing societal difficulty.
- Further societal and economic impacts are also clear: consumers face higher costs and real risks to goods supplies on which they rely; businesses face increased operating costs that put their survival in jeopardy; and, as many businesses and business organisations have made clear, if the flexibility provided by the grace periods were to be removed, there would be questions as to whether food supplies and parcel deliveries would continue without serious disruption, with significant knock-on impacts for day-to-day lives.
- There has also been political and community instability (with changes of First Minister and the leadership of both main unionist parties), at a time when the challenges of COVID-19 are already acute. There were instances of disorder at Easter across Northern Ireland, with the Protocol cited as one of the significant contributing factors. In May, the Police Service of Northern Ireland noted that of 35 unlawful parades or protests being investigated, 30 related to action against the Protocol.¹¹ Early surveys of attitudes have reflected these concerns and unease, with two-thirds of respondents concerned about the effects of the Protocol on Northern Ireland's economy and on political stability in Northern Ireland.¹² And the absence of buy-in to the existing arrangements from the unionist community leaves an ongoing tension within the power-sharing institutions, undermining the basis which the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement established for those institutions to function effectively.
- 30. Taken together, these are very serious effects which have put the functioning of the devolved government in Northern Ireland under strain and placed significant pressures on people and businesses in Northern Ireland.
- 31. This combination of serious economic and societal difficulties, along with the obvious diversion of trade, would justify a serious response under the framework of the Protocol. Indeed the unusually broadly drawn text of Article 16 was designed precisely with such circumstances in mind, allowing for either party to act unilaterally with appropriate measures, in a proportionate way and in a manner necessary to remedy the situation.
- 32. Against this background, the Government has carefully considered what action would be open to it. It is clear that the situation would justify a package of

Page 21

14

¹⁰ External Trade, Goods Exports and Imports, Central Statistics Office, May 2021.

¹¹ PSNI investigating dozens of unlawful parades over NI Protocol, BBC News, May 2021.

¹² <u>Testing the Temperature II.</u> David Phinnemore, Katy Hayward, Lisa Whitten and Billy Melo Araujo, June 2021.

- appropriate safeguards under Article 16 insofar as these are responding to serious societal or economic difficulties or diversion of trade. These could include a range of measures to deal both with the current issues arising in the application of the Protocol (for example, chilled meats, parcels and so on) and also the broader arrangements under which goods enter Northern Ireland from Great Britain.
- 33. There are of course limits on the actions that can be taken under Article 16. They are limited to the specific difficulties faced, are subject to the uncertainty of an as yet untested dispute settlement process, and would be temporary (though could nevertheless persist, provided they remained strictly necessary to remedy the situation).
- 34. For these reasons the Government has concluded that for the time being it is not appropriate to exercise its rights under Article 16. Nevertheless, such action remains on the table as a possibility for the future if circumstances justify it. We must always have available to us all the necessary options to meet our overriding responsibilities for peace, prosperity and stability in Northern Ireland and to support the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement.

SECTION FOUR: An alternative way forward: finding an agreed new balance

- 35. Notwithstanding that assessment, these societal and economic difficulties, and the trade diversion we have seen, require significant measures to address them. Those impacts derive from fundamental issues with the existing Protocol arrangements, not least the extensive customs and agri-food burdens they impose, and any solutions must fundamentally address those burdens for internal UK trade. That requires significant change to the Protocol, through a new balance of arrangements which can operate pragmatically and accord with the unique circumstances of Northern Ireland.
- 36. Rather than use Article 16, we would prefer to find a consensual path. We now need urgent talks that can try to find a new balance for the Protocol: one that fully respects Northern Ireland's place in the UK market, while maintaining the integrity of the EU's own market. We need to get onto this path quickly, to give Northern Ireland the stability and certainty it needs. The EU has indicated its willingness to continue to engage and find solutions. We recognise the significant efforts that have been put into considering responses to some specific issues, such as livestock movements, the movement of assistance dogs, and aspects of the issues we have faced on medicines. This is welcome and important, as of course is the EU's own commitment to protecting the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement.
- 37. These talks need not look at all aspects of the Protocol. The longstanding arrangements for the Common Travel Area, the workings of the all-island Single Electricity Market, and the provisions that ensure there is no diminution of human rights in Northern Ireland as a result of the UK's withdrawal from the European Union are not controversial. The focus should be on the arrangements covering trade in goods and on the overarching institutional framework put in place by the Protocol. It is in those aspects that the current provisions have led to the perceptions of unfairness and imbalance. It is here that we must find the new balance.

- 38. In particular we think these talks need to address three sets of fundamental concerns.
- 39. First, they need to look at ways of **removing the burdens on trade in goods** within the UK while managing the real risks to the EU Single Market. The Protocol itself already accepts the principle of different treatment of goods depending on their ultimate destination, and that the parties must use best endeavours to streamline trade and avoid controls at Northern Ireland ports and airports. We need to find a way of ensuring that full customs and SPS processes are applied only to goods destined for the EU. (See paras 47-57 below.)
- 40. Second, we need to look at how to ensure that businesses and consumers in Northern Ireland can continue to have normal access to goods from the rest of the UK on which they have long relied. Applying the same principle of differentiation, the regulatory environment in Northern Ireland should tolerate different rules, allowing goods made to UK rules and regulated by UK authorities to circulate freely in Northern Ireland as long as they remain in Northern Ireland. (See paras 58-65 below.)
- 41. Thirdly, we should look to **normalise the governance basis of the Protocol** so that the relationship between the UK and the EU is not ultimately policed by the EU institutions including the Court of Justice. The existing arrangements are highly unusual and have not proven conducive to solving the issues that have arisen. We should return to a normal Treaty framework, similar to other international agreements including our Trade and Cooperation Agreement, in which governance and disputes are managed collectively and ultimately through international arbitration. As part of this, we also need to find ways of ensuring that institutions representing Northern Ireland can be more deeply involved in shaping and bringing into force legislation which binds Northern Ireland. (See paras 66-72 below.)
- 42. We also recognise the UK's share of responsibility, in these circumstances, to help the EU protect its Single Market. Our proposals aim to provide a rigorous regime that maintains the integrity of UK and EU markets but with processes carefully calibrated based on the risk goods pose and where they are headed. Goods moving on to the Republic of Ireland and the rest of the EU would be subject to normal customs processes, just as the Protocol requires now.
- 43. We are also ready to look at exceptional arrangements for deep, reciprocal sharing of data on trade, close cooperation with authorities across the EU and in Ireland, inspection processes, collective analysis of trade flows, and if necessary specific arrangements for certain categories of goods and movements to give the assurance required that these arrangements respect the mutual interests of the UK and EU. We also stand ready to bring in new legislation to deter anyone in Northern Ireland looking to export to Ireland goods which do not meet EU standards or to evade these enforcement processes. These are set out in the appropriate section below.
- 44. Finally, these new arrangements should of course continue to ensure, as now, that there are no infrastructure or checks at the international border between Ireland and Northern Ireland.
- 45. A negotiations process that covers this ground can ensure that the new settlement we reach is a true balance of interest: putting the operation of a rebalanced Protocol

onto an equitable footing which all sides own and are ready to operate fully, without being a constant source of tension as at present.

SECTION FIVE: Establishing this new balance

46. We look to discuss the detail of these aspirations with the EU urgently. We are not over-prescriptive about solutions. We set out below one possible compromise model as to how this might work, using the broad contours of the current Protocol. This stops short of the alternative and more innovative solutions, such as the Mutual Enforcement proposals that have been set out by some expert observers, though we have drawn upon elements of these in our proposals.

i. Trade in goods within the United Kingdom

Customs

- 47. The Protocol is clear that Northern Ireland is fully part of the United Kingdom's customs territory. But this principle does not apply in practice due to the burdens of paperwork facing all trade moving from GB to Northern Ireland, and due to the absence of entirely tariff-free trade (for example where Northern Ireland traders, uniquely, have been unable to access either the UK's or the EU's Tariff Rate Quotas on products such as steel, and therefore face higher tariffs, because of legislation introduced by the EU after the Protocol was agreed). Now, with the increasing evidence of the extremely limited risks to the Single Market in practice, there is an opportunity to build on the "at risk" concept already in the Protocol to genuinely differentiate trade based on its destination.
- 48. One possible alternative would be arrangements under which it would be the primary responsibility of any UK trader moving goods to Northern Ireland to declare whether the final destination of those goods was Northern Ireland or Ireland. Full customs formalities would be required for goods going to Ireland and the UK would undertake to enforce them. Other goods would not require customs processes. Assurance for these arrangements would be provided by the requirement for all such traders to register in a light-touch scheme: in so doing, they would be agreeing to complete transparency of their supply chains to enforcement authorities, and to openness of their shipments to controls or checks on a risk-based and intelligence-led basis. These arrangements would also address tariff burdens for traders bringing goods from the rest of the world into Northern Ireland that remain in the UK's customs territory, and would be available to businesses and individuals moving consignments in post or parcels (with no requirement for declarations or tariffs on any consignments destined for Northern Ireland consumers).

Sanitary and phytosanitary (SPS) measures

- 49. In addition to the arrangements above, additional arrangements should apply as follows for SPS goods.
- 50. For agri-food, this model would operate through the same internal UK trade scheme proposed for customs. The full SPS requirements of EU law would be applied for goods going to Ireland and the UK would undertake to enforce them. There would also still be the means to apply risk-based and intelligence-led controls on consignments as they move into Northern Ireland. But there would be no need for

- certificates and checks for individual items that are only ever intended to be consumed in Northern Ireland.
- 51. Live animals pose a different order of risk and require a specific approach. This was recognised in UK national rules before the United Kingdom left the EU, where all movements (including internal UK movements) were pre-notified, accompanied by health documentation and subject to 100% checks. We would propose to maintain broadly these arrangements in this model. Similarly, recognising the potential biosecurity risk posed by certain plants and plant products, there should be an appropriate regime for those movements, without obstructing the movement of standard products such as seeds and plants for garden centres and personal use.
- 52. Additional confidence in these arrangements could if necessary be provided by an appropriately designed SPS agreement covering these movements on the lines already proposed by the UK, setting out where UK and EU SPS legislation provided for the same high standards, and providing a means to identify areas of significant difference where the level of risk-based controls might need to be higher.
- 53. Pets remaining in the UK, while meeting existing UK legal requirements such as microchipping for dogs, would be able to move freely between Great Britain and Northern Ireland. This would ensure ease of movement for pets and assistance dogs as a priority, negating the need for onerous certification, tapeworm treatment or unnecessary rabies vaccinations.

VAT and excise

Northern Ireland also forms part of the United Kingdom's VAT and excise territory. Northern Ireland applies EU VAT and excise rules for goods, with limited exceptions, but the Government has implemented the Protocol so as to minimise the impacts on the movement of goods. Even so we have still seen problems in some areas, such as the application of the VAT second-hand margin scheme and requirements for eCommerce traders. These issues may multiply as UK and EU VAT and excise rules evolve. So we believe we need to look at a more flexible settlement here, with greater freedom to set VAT and excise rates and structures in Northern Ireland, but underpinned by clear safeguards where changes would introduce significant distortions on the island of Ireland; and enhanced consultative mechanisms to ensure that risks of double taxation and significant divergence within the UK internal market are avoided.

Enforcement

55. In all these areas effective monitoring and enforcement is crucial. Though the risks to the EU would be extremely low in practice given that trade from Northern Ireland to Ireland is less than 0.5% of all imports into the EU, all these arrangements need to be underpinned by strong reciprocal data-sharing arrangements, building on the access to information in IT systems already provided by the UK, and other law enforcement cooperation, to provide assurance that all necessary requirements are being met. On SPS goods, there would need to be particularly strong oversight and visibility of supply chains; appropriate labelling requirements so that goods could only be sold in the UK; and increased market surveillance to monitor compliance, with penalties for non-compliant traders.

Unfettered access

- 56. Protection of the UK internal market also entails preserving access for Northern Ireland goods to the UK market. The Government has already put in place robust protections to that effect: enshrining in the UK Internal Market Act 2020 full unfettered access for qualifying Northern Ireland goods to all parts of the United Kingdom market.
- 57. The UK and EU agreed in December not to require export declarations for goods moving to Great Britain from Northern Ireland other than in certain very limited circumstances (for example CITES endangered species movements). This was on the basis that other data sources, such as shipping manifests, could provide equivalent information. Following work with carriers and others however, it is clear that this model is not operable without putting in place burdensome new requirements to collect further information. We suggest that a new settlement should definitively eliminate these requirements except in the narrow cases of specifically controlled goods. This involves no risk to the EU since any goods moving to the rest of the UK will either be consumed there or be subject to further processes if later re-exported.

ii. Circulation of goods within Northern Ireland

- 58. Under the Protocol, Northern Ireland aligns with all relevant EU rules relating to the placing on the market of manufactured goods. This requires products to meet EU rules if they are to be placed on the market in Northern Ireland, but goods approved to these rules by UK bodies are marked for sale only in Northern Ireland and Great Britain. The current arrangements have already caused difficulties for businesses trying to put goods from Great Britain onto the market. These will be exacerbated further once the UK moves fully onto the new UKCA product safety regime, leading to significant risks that many businesses in Great Britain simply give up trying to produce goods for the Northern Ireland market. The current system nevertheless enshrines the principle that there can be parallel arrangements for different goods in Northern Ireland, underpinned by risk-assessed regulatory checks performed by market surveillance authorities to limit the sale of goods beyond Northern Ireland.
- 59. We suggest that the right way forward would be to extend this principle to provide for a full dual regulatory regime in Northern Ireland. Goods, whether manufactured or SPS goods, should be able to circulate within Northern Ireland if they meet either UK or EU rules, as determined by UK or EU regulators, and should be labelled accordingly. Of course, goods destined or produced for the EU Single Market would need to meet EU rules in full. Goods exported from Great Britain via Northern Ireland to Ireland or beyond would, under the arrangements set out above, need to meet full normal EU customs processes.
- 60. It may be necessary to build into these arrangements specific provisions for medicines (and a small number of other key sectors). Arrangements for medicines, for example, are so closely linked to the delivery of national health services, an essential state function for a modern state, and the associated regulation and control arrangements are so substantial, that the risk of diversion into the Single Market is extremely minimal.
- 61. Moreover the current arrangements are creating considerable challenges with medicine supply to patients in Northern Ireland being put at risk for a number of

products from the end of 2021. The solution proposed by the EU in June was a welcome start, but is potentially complex to operate because of its need to work within the broader EU framework for regulating medicines; and furthermore it would not satisfactorily deal with certain medicines (such as new cancer drugs) which must be licensed by the European Medicines Agency. Given the range and depth of these challenges, the simplest way forward may be to remove all medicines from the scope of the Protocol entirely.

62. Arrangements of this nature involve risk to both sides: that goods made to UK rules move onto the EU market, and that goods made to EU rules move to the market in Great Britain. For our part we believe that risk is manageable and acceptable, given existing strong market surveillance. For the EU's part we are ready to agree stronger arrangements for enforcement, including clearer rules for product labelling, extensive reciprocal data-sharing arrangements with the EU and Ireland, enhanced forums for cooperating on market surveillance and calibrating it to specific levels of risk, and awareness work with traders. Once again we are also ready to put in place legislation to provide for penalties for UK traders seeking to place non-compliant goods on the EU market.

Subsidy control

- 63. The Protocol at present means that Northern Ireland remains part of the EU's subsidy control framework in certain areas. This is in part a result of the fact that the Protocol was negotiated in 2019 when neither the UK nor the EU knew the nature of commitments to be made on subsidy control in the future Trade and Cooperation Agreement or indeed whether it would be agreed at all.
- 64. We now know that there are comprehensive and robust commitments in place on subsidy control, based around shared principles underpinning both the UK and EU regimes agreed in the Trade and Cooperation Agreement. These are being further strengthened through the UK's Subsidy Control Bill which is currently before Parliament. These arrangements provide a more than sufficient basis to guarantee that there will be no significant distortion to goods trade between the UK and EU, whether from Great Britain or Northern Ireland, thus making the existing provisions in Article 10 redundant in their current form.
- 65. Nevertheless, given that Northern Ireland producers would continue to have some privileged access to the Single Market in this model, we would be prepared to establish enhanced processes for any subsidies on a significant scale relating directly to Northern Ireland for example enhanced referral powers or consultation procedures for subsidies within scope, to enable EU concerns to be properly and swiftly addressed.

iii. Governance

66. As we have set out above, the institutional arrangements of the Protocol have not proven conducive to finding shared solutions. Nor have they provided a sense of common ownership, instead placing problems too quickly into an adversarial setting. We should aim at putting in place new institutional arrangements making the UK and EU into a partnership of equals, both with a strong and direct interest in operating the Protocol effectively.

- 67. The most unusual feature of the current Protocol is Articles 12(4) to 12(7), which give the institutions of the EU, up to and including the Court of Justice, the right to enforce major elements of the Protocol's provisions. It is highly unusual in international affairs for one party to a treaty to subject itself to the jurisdiction of the institutions of the other, all the more so when the arrangements concerned are designed to mediate the *sui generis* relationship between the EU and its Member States. The UK refused to accept this in the negotiations on the Trade and Cooperation Agreement, and only agreed to it in the Protocol because of the very specific circumstances of that negotiation.
- 68. These arrangements are highly unusual and have not supported problem-solving in the context of a divided society indeed they have arguably increased rather than reduced tensions. They have also contributed to a false sense of separation between Great Britain and Northern Ireland, as trade arrangements operated within one part of the United Kingdom are ultimately overseen outside of it.
- 69. In devising alternative dispute settlement arrangements, our starting point should be to return to a normal treaty framework, similar to other international agreements including our Trade and Cooperation Agreement, in which governance and disputes are managed collectively and ultimately through international arbitration. It may be desirable to also put in place enhanced consultative processes to provide a framework for effective discussion and resolution of issues that arise.
- 70. These changes will of course require a subsequent agreement, as envisaged under Article 13(8) of the Protocol, in order to amend, at least in part, certain provisions. We consider that such an amendment would fundamentally strengthen the Protocol's ability to meet its core objectives and, in particular, Article 1(1) and 1(3).

Consultation and legislative processes

- 71. We should also take the opportunity to ensure that in any areas where EU law is applied or replicated in Northern Ireland under a rebalanced settlement, there are more robust arrangements to ensure that, as rules are developed, they take account of their implications for Northern Ireland and provide a stronger role for those in Northern Ireland to whom they apply (including the Northern Ireland Assembly and Executive, and wider Northern Ireland civic society and business).
- 72. Of course, for as long as some legislation affecting Northern Ireland continues to be made outside the United Kingdom, the consent mechanism will need to continue to apply.

SECTION SIX: Next steps

- 73. In addition to its commitments as a co-signatory of the Belfast (Good Friday)
 Agreement, the Government has specific responsibilities to Northern Ireland and its
 people as the sovereign Government of all of the United Kingdom.
- 74. These responsibilities are why the Government is so concerned by the very significant and deepening issues with the operation of the Protocol in its current form. This situation poses risks for stability in Northern Ireland; challenges the viability of businesses in Northern Ireland; is causing unacceptable disruption to day-to-day lives; and is driving shifting patterns of trade away from the critical flows

between Great Britain and Northern Ireland on which so many lives and livelihoods rely.

- 75. Our discussions so far show that there is no desire on any side for this trajectory to continue unaddressed. Across the island of Ireland, within the EU and across all parts of the United Kingdom, there is a desire to support the peace process in Northern Ireland, bolster the institutions, and support them in delivering prosperity, stability and a genuinely shared society in the longer-term. We must take the opportunity to support this shared drive and endeavour, and find a new balance which can address the trade diversion, and the economic and societal difficulties, we have seen so far this year.
- 76. The best way to do this is through finding new and durable arrangements agreed by the UK and the EU together, in which there is a shared ongoing interest in their success. This will best serve businesses and citizens in Northern Ireland; and provide the strongest platform for the productive long-term relationship between the UK and EU that we all want.
- 77. To provide space for these discussions, the Government believes it is vital to provide certainty and stability for businesses in Northern Ireland in the short term. Accordingly, we believe we and the EU should agree a 'standstill' on existing arrangements, including the operation of grace periods in force, and a freeze on existing legal actions and processes, to ensure there is room to negotiate without further cliff edges, and to provide a genuine signal of good intent to find ways forward.
- 78. The prize at hand is a settlement with the ability to endure, with practical arrangements capable of commanding support right across the spectrum, within Northern Ireland and beyond; and a new and more productive relationship between the UK and the EU more broadly. We hope that there will be a strong common interest, and a mutual desire, to take this consensual approach to finding the new balance that is so much required.
- 79. The Government stands ready to take these discussions forward at pace. The issues faced are genuine and urgent. As the Government of the whole of the United Kingdom, we believe a resolution can be found that ensures arrangements for Northern Ireland fully respect all dimensions of the Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement, and protects the interests of all parties. We invite the EU to join us in an intensive process that resolves these issues on a durable, sustainable basis, and enables us to look forward to the better future beyond.





Subject:		Positioning						
		- comormig						
Date:		12th August 2021						
-		John Tully, Director of City and Organisational Strategy						
Reporting Officer: Contact Officer:		Alistair Reid, Strategic Director of Place and Economy John Greer, Head of Economic Development Lisa Toland, Senior Manager, Economy						
Is this	report restricted?			Yes		No	Х	
	•							
Is the	decision eligible f	or Call-in?		Yes		No		
1.0	Purpose of Rep	ort or Summary of main Is	sues					
	To provide Members with an update in relation to EU Replacement Funding, and the							
	emerging issues which need to be considered as a council and the wider local							
	government sect	overnment sector.						
2.0	Recommendations							
	The Members of	The Members of the Committee are requested to recommend that, in accordance with						
	the Council decision of 4th May 2021, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated							
	authority, to:							
	note the update on current issues set out below and in Appendix 1							
	regarding the potential impacts of the Shared Prosperity Fund on the							
	Council and local government sector;							
	agree that SOLACE NI are approached to commission Ekosgen to							
	undertake a further position piece in relation to the Shared Prosperity Fund. This further work should expand on the earlier lobbying piece							
		Ekosgen produced, and set			•	t to		
		a greater role in the future m		_				
		erity Fund; and	and don't	J., UI	011	• •		
		that officers continue to eng	iane with nartners ac	ross th	ne city			
		_						
	delive	ry organisations, central gov	remment colleagues a	สเเน เท	e new			

MCHLG offices to assess the likely impacts of the Shared Prosperity Fund, ensuring that the council and sectoral position is suitably articulated.

3.0 Main report

Background

- 3.1 Members will be aware of the UK government plans to replace European Union 'structural funds' with a new Shared Prosperity Fund, due to launch in April 2022. As a member of the EU, the UK received substantial transfers from the EU budget as structural funds. These formed a central part of the EU commitment to support sustainable development and reduce economic disparities between and within member states, and were used to fund employment and skills programmes, research and innovation, and direct support for business and infrastructure.
- The two main structural funds that have operated in Northern Ireland are the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and the European Social Fund (ESF). The two funds have slightly different profiles:
 - The ERDF supported investment in innovation and research, information technology, small and medium-sized enterprises, and the promotion of a low-carbon economy. Spending under the ERDF in the UK was split roughly equally between capital (investment) and resource (programme) expenditure.
 - The ESF supported employment-related projects and vocational skills training. Including support for programmes to support young people who are not in education, employment or training. ESF spending was categorised almost entirely as resource spending.
- In 2014–20, the EU's last seven-year budget cycle, the UK was allocated a total of €11 billion from these two funds. The three devolved nations received a larger amount of funding per person than England. From the ERDF and ESF combined in the 2014–20 cycle, England was allocated €7.1bn, or €130 per person; Scotland €940 million, or €180 per person; Northern Ireland €510m, or €280 per person; and Wales €2.4bn, or €780 per person.

3.4 During the last EU Funding programme Northern Ireland received in the region of 4.8% of the UK's allocated funding. However, under the recent Community Renewal funding, which has been badged as a pre-cursor to the Shared Prosperity Fund, Northern Ireland received an allocation of around 3% linked to our population figure within the UK. If this approach was to continue with the Shared Prosperity Fund, this would represent a significant loss in terms of replacement funding. This is an area that we need to be well-positioned as a council and sector to work with colleagues in the regional government departments, to argue that there should be no reduction to the previous funding levels through the introduction of the Shared Prosperity Fund.

3.5 The European Social Fund (ESF)

The European Social Fund (ESF) will come to an end in 2023. ESF funding is managed by DfE and much of the funding is administered through an open call. The fund provides support for a range of employability support interventions, largely aimed at those who are hardest to help (e.g. economically inactive, long term unemployed) and those that require specific support e.g. disabled individuals.

- 3.6 Over the last four years, 32 ESF projects in Belfast have been resourced to a level of £85million.
- The volume of support provided by these organisations and the significant structural challenges in the Belfast labour market that has been exacerbated by COVID-19 mean that the withdrawal of ESF will have a significant indirect impact on Belfast City Council.
- Inclusive Growth Commission and the recent agreement to establish Labour Market Partnerships to focus on supporting the development of an inclusive economy, any reduction in engagement and support for the most vulnerable groups will make it more challenging to deliver on that commitment. Having said that, officers are of the view that the current open call approach to addressing these labour market challenges and supporting those groups is not the best way to make an impact and this is borne out by the stubbornly high levels of economic inactivity and unemployment amongst key demographics that have not been impacted by the significant levels of investment to date.

3.9

European Social Fund - current status

ESF projects are currently in year 4 of a 4-year funding agreement, with an end date of March 2022. Earlier this year, DfE confirmed that they were going to be able to extend the funding to existing projects for one more year and they began the planning work on the ESF successor fund. In May 2021, DfE subsequently confirmed that they would not be able to undertake the project extension support and that they would have to issue a new call for funding.

3.10

Future delivery options for Shared Prosperity Fund

If the UK Government maintains its approach of engaging directly through MCHLG with councils in terms of future delivery of the Shred Prosperity Fund, we will need to consider carefully as a sector whether the capacity exists to take on this role and what the best delivery mechanisms would be to fulfil our own strategic objectives in managing this funding to address local need within our areas.

3.11

Members will be aware that Labour Market Partnerships are to be established in each council area. The Partnership is tasked with developing a local plan to address the key employability challenges and resources are allocated to support delivery of targeted interventions. The initial plan for Belfast currently in draft form for discussion with DfC will attract funding of up to £1.4million annually against a range of targeted interventions (overall regional budget is £7million). Going forward, funding will be allocated on a three-year cycle, taking account of the need for longer-term planning on these issues.

3.12

The current plan includes a significant investment to support LTU/economically inactive and the intention is to commission this support with input from both the Jobs and Benefits Office (JBO) staff and our employability stakeholder network and this has the potential to create a template for how employability support might be provided for key target groups in the future. However, the scale of investment is significantly smaller than the current ESF budget allocation and will not be able to be used to support all the organisations in the way that the current open call process has been able to do.

3.13

While there appears to be limited information available on the shape and scale of the Shared Prosperity Fund, there is an opportunity to engage with MHCLG to explore how the Labour Market Partnerships may become a conduit for targeting resources at a local level to address long-standing employability challenges and support the "levelling up" agenda. The added value of the LMPs is that they have direct departmental support

and buy-in from both DfE and DfC and they also have support across other parts of government – including DoJ and DoH. 3.14 Each of the Labour Market Partnerships must complete a strategic assessment of the local labour market as part of their action plan development work with DfC and this provides an independent assessment of need against which interventions can be developed or activities commissioned. It is also important to note that, traditionally, DfE has used ESF to fund some apprenticeship delivery. 3.15 However, the employability element of the EU funds is only one part of the overall budget commitment. Funds allocated through ERDF and Rural Development Funding will have a more wide-ranging impact on support for businesses as well as rural diversification activities. On ERDF, it is clear that the reductions in funding will also have a significant impact on Invest NI and their ability to support local companies. The scope of the eligible expenditure extends beyond councils and, while we need to present a business case for continued investment from the replacement funds, this is likely to be part of a wider package of delivery, some of which will fall outside of the vires 3.16 of the council. For these reasons officers are seeking to engage Eskogen via SOLACE to expand on the earlier lobbying piece which Ekosgen produced, and set out the basis for local government to have a greater role in the future management and delivery of the Shared Prosperity Fund to ensure that the council and sectoral position is suitably articulated It is envisaged that this position will allow officers continue to engage with partners across the city, delivery organisations, central government colleagues and the new 3.17 MCHLG offices. Financial & Resource Implications 3.18 None associated with this report. Equality or Good Relations Implications None associated with this report. 4.0 **Appendices – Documents Attached**

ERDF)

Appendix 1 – Additional background information on EU Replacement Funding - (Shared Prosperity Fund, Council/MCHLG/NICS relationships, SOLACE NI regional piece and

Appendix 1 – Additional Background Information

1. Shared Prosperity Fund

- Prosperity Fund would "at a minimum" match the level of EU spending in each of the four nations of the UK. However, following the announcement by the Chancellor in last year's Comprehensive Spending Review that the Government intends to match the receipts of EU Funding allocations and not the actual allocated funding that this may represent a significant reduction in the level of replacement funding that will be offered.
- 1.2 While much uncertainty remains in relation to the design and quantum of funding under the Shared Prosperity Fund. It appears the UK Government are intent on designing a post-Brexit system for supporting economic growth and regeneration which they believe will improve upon the EU framework. As such, the government intends the Shared Prosperity Fund to be:
 - Less bureaucratic than EU structural funds, by cutting "overly prescriptive categories",
 reducing targets and focusing on outcomes over outputs
 - Allocated more quickly than EU structural funds, which can take up to two years to reach local areas from the start of the funding period
 - Better targeted to local places and people in need of funding, such as post-industrial towns, deprived rural and coastal communities, and the long-term unemployed
 - Better aligned with other domestic policy priorities, such as net zero objectives and 'levelling up', by "enabling more holistic, joined-up investment"
 - Better able to fund projects that span more than one of the UK nations.
- 1.3 In addition, the government regards the Shared Prosperity Fund as a central plank of its strategy to strengthen the union by showcasing the benefits of Whitehall-led investment in local and regional economies. The UK government has said that the fund will operate "UK-wide" with "common branding" for projects that receive support. The 2020 spending review stated that the UKSPF would operate UK-wide using new financial assistance powers in the UK Internal Market Act. The UK government is expected to publish a UKSPF investment framework by autumn 2021, followed by further detail on financial allocations in a full spending review.

2. Relationship between councils, central government departments and MCHLG

2.1 This new "UK-wide" approach means the devolved governments are expected to play a marginal role in allocation decisions within their own territories. This approach from the UK government carries risks that could both reduce the effectiveness of the Shared Prosperity Fund and undermine its own objectives.

2.2 These include:

- Duplication of functions, with both UK and devolved governments funding similar initiatives in competition with one another.
- Fragmented provision of services, if the UK government grants money to local projects that are not joined up with similar initiatives funded directly by the devolved governments.
- Funding uncertainty for devolved governments and potential local recipients of the UKSPF, since there is still little clarity about how funding will be allocated or over how long a period.
- 2.3 Traditionally, EU structural funds were administered on a devolved basis. This meant the governments in Edinburgh, Cardiff and Belfast took the lead in setting the funding priorities for structural funds within their territories as part of a 'UK partnership agreement' jointly signed by the UK government and the EU. Each of the devolved governments then acted as the managing authorities for disbursing those funds. The UK government was responsible for delivering structural funds only within England, working within the overarching framework agreed with the EU.

3. Regional piece on Shared Prosperity Fund through SOLACE NI

- 3.1 It is important that councils, particularly as a collective, are strategically aligned and well-positioned to help make recommendations which influence the future design, management, and delivery of this successor to EU funding.
- 3.3 This work can also ensure that funding programmes involving councils and local government are not viewed in isolation, and that councils individually and collectively, consider these funds in line with other funding opportunities, such as Peace Plus and City Deal

Complementary funding. This work will help to establish concrete recommendations on how councils can approach these funding opportunities to deliver meaningful projects and programmes within and across our local areas.

4. Replacement of EU Funding – consequences for BCC and Local Government Sector

- 4.1 The loss of EU funding and the lack of clarity around both the format and the quantum of the replacement funds will have significant direct and indirect consequences for Belfast City Council and other local authorities.
- 4.2 Since 1994, councils have had the ability to draw down EU funding to supplement local authority resources in the delivery of a range of local economic development functions. The nature and scale of interventions have significantly evolved over time. In the current programming period (2014-2020), ERDF funding matched with Invest NI resources was worth a total of £16.4million (of which more than £3million was allocated to Belfast City Council). When council match funding contributions were factored in, this means that a total budget of around £20million was allocated to a range of interventions to support business start-up and growth; around £4million each year of delivery in this programming period.
- 4.3 The withdrawal of ERDF and the lack of any clear guidance as to the shape and format of the replacement funds will have significant implications for the delivery of business start-up and business growth support.
- 4.3 **Business start-up/social enterprise**: Since 2015, local authorities have had statutory responsibility for a range of start-up and enterprise support activities (including social enterprise). Progress against target is reported annually through the Local Government Auditor. An annual financial transfer of around £412,000 is made to Belfast City Council (£3million across all councils) to support delivery of these interventions. In reality, Belfast City Council spend on these areas is generally in the region of £600,000 each year. Most of these resources are allocated to the regional start-up support programme (Go for It) and these funds are supplemented with 80% match funding from Invest NI and ERDF (*total spend is around £978,064 including eligible go for it costs*).

- 4.5 Go for It is managed on behalf of all the councils by Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council and is delivered by Enterprise NI. Councils acknowledge that the current programme needs to be revamped and have recently commissioned research which suggests that, in order to achieve the step-change in performance that they wish to see, the level of investment would need to increase up to five-fold. Additional work is under way at present to build a detailed picture of costs and to understand the potential delivery model for any future collaborative programme. This work will give a better picture of the level of resources required from each council.
- Business growth support: while business start-up/social enterprise is a statutory function for councils, business growth support remains a discretionary function. This support is largely focused on post-start-up support for new businesses as well as targeted interventions (e.g. digital support; procurement support) as well as sector engagement (the key growth sectors in the city as well as those sectors that are not supported by Invest NI and other government partners). Last year, Belfast City Council spent £310,893 (NET) (£646,351 total spend including ERDF/Invest NI income) in supporting 475 businesses to access one to one support and a further 1,153 who accessed a range of workshops and events. Over the ERDF programme period from 2017 2023 Belfast City Council have secured funding to support the delivery of programmes costing £3,564,493, this will include a total contribution from BCC of £712,899. The total jobs expected to be created through this support by the end of the programme period is 2219 in the Belfast City Council area.
- 4.7 Outside of ERDF support (and the current match funding provided by Invest NI), there is no additional mechanism for resourcing the business growth support, and no direct funding from government to support this delivery. This presents a significant risk to the local businesses: more than 95% of businesses in Belfast employ 250 people or less and we know that many micro businesses in particular have struggled in this challenging economic climate.
- 4.8 Given that a small part of the Belfast City Council district falls within the eligible area for rural development funding, businesses located in that area (largely those in Hannahstown and Edenderry) are eligible to apply for business grants of up to £5,000 to support a range of business growth activities through the EU-funded Rural Development Programme. There is currently a live call for these projects but, given the limited scope for Belfast, it is likely that

no more than 5-10 businesses will be able to access the funding. Similar to the ERDF funding, this will end in 2023 and is likely to have a significant impact on councils outside of Belfast, given the previous funding allocations that were made through the programme.





Subject:

BREXIT COMMITTEE

Schedule of Meetings 2021

Date:		12th August, 2021				
Reporting Officer:		Carolyn Donnelly, Democratic Services Officer				
Contac	t Officer:	Carolyn Donnelly, Democratic Services Officer				
Restricted Reports						
Is this I	report restricted?		Yes	No X		
If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?						
	After Committe	ee Decision				
	After Council I	Decision				
	Some time in t	he future				
Never						
Call-in						
Is the d	lecision eligible for	Call-in?	Yes	No		
1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues						
	To advise the Members of the Committee of a scheduling conflict in September and recommend an alternative date to hold the meeting of the Members of the Brexit Committee.					
2.0	Recommendation	ecommendations				
	The Members of the Committee are requested to recommend that, in accordance with the Council decision of 4th May 2021, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority, to allow an adjustment to the schedule of meetings for the Brexit Committee.					
3.0	Main report					
	Key Issues					
	The Committee, at its meeting held on 12th November, 2020, agreed the schedule of meetings for 2021, and that the September meeting would be held on Thursday, 19th September.					

At its meeting in June, the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee agreed that, from September 2021, the Committee meetings would move to a full hybrid arrangement.

These meetings would be held in the Great Hall / Banqueting Hall, City Hall and would allow all Members of a Committee to attend in-person if they so wished. The meetings would also be held jointly via Microsoft Teams to allow Councillors the choice to attend, participate and vote in the meeting remotely also. However, some events have been booked in the Great Hall and Banqueting hall which has resulted in a conflict with the Committee schedule.

Accordingly, the following has been identified as an alternative date to hold the September hybrid meeting of Members of the Brexit Committee:

Monday, 13th September at 5.15pm

Alternatively, the Members may wish to keep to the previously, agreed date but the meeting be held fully remote, as it is currently, with only the Chairperson in attendance in the Lavery Room.

Financial and Resource Implications

None associated with this report.

Equality or Good Relations Implications

None associated with this report.

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached

None associated with this report.